RECEIVED

Dec 05 2025

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

CERTIORARI TO LAURENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
B. Alex Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001566

Christopher J. Wells,

Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

D. RUSSELL BARLOW
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

ZACHARY W. JONES
S.C. Bar No. 104174
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The PCR court erred in finding Counsel ineffective for failing to investigate or discover additional evidence, where the PCR court failed to apply the appropriate *Strickland* standard for evaluating ineffective assistance, and where none of the evidence Counsel allegedly overlooked would have made any difference in the result of Respondent's trial.
2. The PCR court erred in finding Counsel ineffective for not impeaching Kelly Ball with purported inconsistencies between her statements on the body-worn camera videos and her trial testimony or with evidence of her history of treatment for bipolar disorder, where the record reflects Counsel thoroughly attacked Ball's credibility in multiple ways, where the PCR court failed to identify any inconsistencies in Ball's testimony that Counsel allegedly failed to explore, where no evidence suggests bipolar disorder is probative of truthfulness, and where the PCR court failed to apply to correct *Strickland* standard for evaluating ineffective assistance.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During its April 2015 term, the Laurens County Grand Jury indicted Respondent for murder (Indictment No. 2015-GS-30-1162), armed robbery (2015-GS-30-504), possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime (2015-GS-30-503), and criminal conspiracy (2015-GS-30-505). Deputy Solicitor Warren Mowry and Assistant Solicitor Ruston Neely of the Eighth Circuit Solicitor's Office prosecuted the case. Rodney Richey, Esquire ("Counsel"), represented Respondent.

On April 25, 2016, Respondent proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. The jury convicted Respondent as indicted on the armed robbery, possession of a weapon, and criminal conspiracy charges but acquitted Respondent on the charge of murder. Judge Addy sentenced Respondent to life imprisonment for armed robbery and a concurrent sentence of five years' imprisonment for criminal conspiracy. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. section 16-23-490(A), Judge Addy did not sentence Respondent for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime because of Respondent's life sentence on the armed robbery charge.

Subsequently, Respondent timely appealed his sentences and convictions. On November 8, 2017, in an unpublished opinion, *State v. Wells*, 2017-UP-417 (Ct. App. filed Nov. 8, 2017), the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Respondent's conviction. On May 14, 2018, the Remittur was issued to the lower court.

Summary of Trial Testimony

Late at night on October 31, 2013, Johnny Lee Cheeks ("Victim") was shot at his Enoree residence where he lived with Kelly Ball. Officers responding to the scene found David Lee Walker sitting on the porch, wounded. (App.pp.168-73). Victim told officers that Walker and Victim had shot each other after Walker came to his trailer and tried to rob him. (App.p.182;

pp.284–85). Victim died of his wounds hours later, but Walker survived.

Toris Moore, Walker’s niece, testified at trial. She testified that, on the evening of October 31, 2013, prior to the shooting, Walker, Respondent, and Johnny Saxon came to see her in Respondent’s car. (App.pp.109–10; p.112). Walker spoke to her and told her the three of them were planning to rob a drug dealer who lived with a white woman in Enoree. (App.p.110; pp.115–16). Walker stated Respondent already had a gun to use in the robbery, but he asked Moore if she could give them an additional gun. (App.pp.110–11; p.116). Moore did not want to get involved, so she told Walker she did not have a gun. (App.p.111). Moore identified the car the men arrived in as Respondent’s car. (App.p.112).

Kelly Ball was staying with Victim on the night of the shooting. She testified that, around 10:00–11:00 p.m., there was a knock at the door, and Victim opened the door and went outside. (App.pp.126–27). Ball testified she could hear a verbal altercation going on outside, and she heard the voices of two or three people, one of whom stated, “I’m here to rob you.” (App.pp.127–28). She then heard a single gunshot, followed ten or fifteen seconds later by several more gunshots. (App.p.129, lines 1–8).

Ball testified that, after hearing the first gunshot, she got up out of her seat and was heading to the door when the other shots went off. (App.p.129, lines 11–14). She went out into the yard to check on Victim and observed Victim and David Lee Walker lying on the ground. (App.pp.130–132). She also saw Respondent standing “eight to ten feet away” in the yard. (App.p.132, line 20). She testified she could see Respondent’s face for approximately fifteen seconds because he took several steps backward before turning around and running toward the getaway car. (App.p.132, line 24–p.133, line 6). Later, she was able to pick Respondent out of a photographic lineup. (App.pp.144–47; pp.291–92).

Once Respondent had left in the getaway car, Ball pulled Victim into the trailer and locked the door. (App.p.138, lines 5–12). A short while later, David Walker came to the porch and knocked on the door, but Victim told Ball not to open the door because Walker was the one that had shot him. (App.p.139, lines 3–17). Victim begged Ball to take him to the hospital, but Ball discovered Victim’s car keys had been stolen, along with his house keys, his wallet, and all his cash. (App.p.140, lines 4–23).

After calling 911, Kelly Ball gave a description of the getaway vehicle. Officer Andrew Ashley testified he was driving north on Highway 101 when he heard a description of the car over the radio. (App.p.213–14). He then observed a vehicle that matched the description heading south on Highway 101, and he turned around and began following it. (App.p.214). The vehicle eventually turned left from Highway 101 onto Pleasant View Drive. (App.p.216, lines 1–13; p.226; p.229). Along with Deputy Jeremy McMahan, Ashley followed the vehicle to a residence on Jones Hill Road, and McMahan knocked on the door. (App.p.218). Respondent was inside. (App.pp.218–19). Respondent admitted he had been driving the car, claiming he was coming from a female friend’s house in Spartanburg; however, he refused to give the “friend’s” name or address and seemed “very vague and reluctant.” (App.pp.230–31).

The following day, Antonio Morris was walking at the corner of Highway 101 and Pleasant View drive when he found a discarded wallet lying on the side of the road. (App.p.275). Inside the wallet was a single dollar bill and the ID of the victim, Johnny Lee Cheeks. (App.p.276). After hearing from his aunt that a man named Cheeks had been killed, Morris alerted law enforcement and led Officer Bryant Cheek to the wallet, which was collected as evidence. (App.pp.277–78; p.293). Kelly Ball identified the wallet as belonging to Victim and confirmed that Victim’s ID was inside, although she testified that there were thousands of dollars inside the wallet the last time

she saw Victim using it, which were now missing. (App.pp.124–25).

The wallet was found more than eight miles away from the site of the shooting, but less than one mile away from the house on Jones Hill Road to which law enforcement had followed Respondent. (App.p.290). Officer Ashley, while following Respondent on the night of the crime, had seen Respondent’s car turn left from Highway 101 onto Pleasant View Road, at the exact intersection where Morris later found the victim’s wallet. (App.p.216, lines 1–13; p.226; p.275).

Present Application

Respondent filed an application for post-conviction relief (“PCR”) on February 19, 2019, raising numerous allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Respondent then filed an amended application on December 4, 2023, raising additional allegations. Pertinent to this Petition are the following allegations from the amended application:

1. “Ineffective Assistance of Counsel of Rodney W. Richey, Esquire:”

- ...
 - e. “Failure to challenge or request further discovery from the Solicitor’s office. There was a phone with text messages on it as well as body camera video that was available that Mr. Saxon, the Applicant’s co-defendant, was able to obtain through his attorney, Ms. Aimee Zmroczek, but Mr. Richey never had.”
 - ...
 - g. “Failure to adequately cross-examine Kelly Ball about her inconsistent statements given to police and her testimony in trial.”

The PCR court convened an evidentiary hearing into the matter on November 28, 2023. On July 18, 2024, the PCR court issued an order granting relief. The State filed a motion to alter or amend the order pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, which the PCR court denied on July 28, 2025. The State now petitions this Court for a writ of certiorari to review the decision of the PCR court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for PCR matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018). On review, the appellate courts will uphold a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is any evidence of probative value to support them; however, the PCR court's factual findings will not be upheld when there is no probative evidence to support them. *Pierce v. State*, 338 S.C. 139, 144–45, 526 S.E.2d 222, 225 (2000). Furthermore, appellate courts review questions of law de novo, without deference to the PCR court's rulings. *Mangal v. State*, 421 S.C. 85, 91, 805 S.E.2d 568, 571 (2017). Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law. *Goins v. State*, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

ARGUMENT

- 1. The PCR court erred in finding Counsel ineffective for failing to investigate or discover additional evidence, where the PCR court failed to apply the appropriate *Strickland* standard for evaluating ineffective assistance, and where none of the evidence Counsel allegedly overlooked would have made any difference in the result of Respondent’s trial.**

At the PCR hearing, Respondent presented testimony from Aimee Zmroczek, the attorney who represented Respondent’s co-defendant Johnny Saxon during his trial, which resulted in a hung jury on the charge of criminal conspiracy and an acquittal on the remaining charges. Ms. Zmroczek testified as to several avenues of investigation she pursued during her representation of Saxon, and the evidence she was able to discover as a result of her investigation was introduced as exhibits at the PCR hearing. The PCR court found that Counsel was deficient for not pursuing those same lines of investigation. The PCR court also found Respondent was prejudiced because “these exhibits and these efforts of Ms. Zmroczek . . . show reasonable doubt that [Counsel] did not explore in the trial of [Respondent].” (App.pp.538–41). In so finding, the PCR court appears to have relied chiefly on comparing the outcome of Saxon’s trial to the outcome of Respondent’s trial, ignoring the proper standard for assessing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Applying the correct standard—whether Respondent has shown a “reasonable probability” that, but for Counsel’s omissions, the result of Respondent’s trial would have been different—it is clear that none of the additional evidence presented at the PCR hearing supports the PCR court’s grant of relief on this ground.

In a PCR action, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application by a preponderance of the evidence. *Butler v. State*, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985); Rule 71.1(e), SCRPC. Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel's conduct so undermined the proper

functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814.

In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the two-pronged test outlined in *Strickland*. First, the applicant must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686; *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. *Butler*, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” *Id.* (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). The Court, in determining deficiency, must affirmatively entertain the range of possible reasons counsel may have had for proceeding as they did. *Cullen v. Pinholster*, 563 U.S. 170, 196 (2011); *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 109–10 (2011). “[E]ven if an omission is inadvertent, relief is not automatic. The Sixth Amendment guarantees reasonable competence, not perfect advocacy judged with the benefit of hindsight.” *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 6 (2003); *see also Murphy v. Davis*, 901 F.3d 578, 592 (5th Cir. 2018) (“[C]ounsel’s performance need not be optimal to be reasonable.”). The applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. *See Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Id.* at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. “A reasonable

probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. “The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” *Harrington*, 562 U.S. at 112. “The prejudice analysis requires the court deciding the ineffectiveness claim to consider the totality of the evidence before the judge or jury.” *United States v. Basham*, 789 F.3d 358, 371–72 (4th Cir. 2015) (quoting *Elmore v. Ozmint*, 661 F.3d 783, 858 (4th Cir. 2011)).

The PCR court devoted much of its analysis on this issue, not to Counsel’s representation of Respondent, but to Ms. Zmroczek’s representation of Johnny Saxon. The PCR court found four specific instances where Ms. Zmroczek obtained information that Counsel either did not obtain or did not make use of at Respondent’s trial: body-worn camera footage from officers responding to the crime scene, in addition to the footage already disclosed in discovery; text messages sent to the victim’s phone “that could be considered threatening in nature”; Ms. Zmroczek’s own visit to the crime scene at night to gauge how dark it would have been on the night of the murder; and a map prepared by Ms. Zmroczek purporting to show the route taken by the getaway car and the locations of other people “supposedly involved in the crime.” (App.pp.538–41).

There are several serious flaws with the PCR court’s analysis. As an initial matter, the PCR court totally failed to consider the fact that Respondent and Saxon were not similarly situated defendants. The evidence against Respondent was far stronger than the evidence against Saxon:

Within seconds of the shooting, the State’s witness Kelly Ball testified she looked out the door of the Victim’s trailer and saw Respondent standing “eight to ten feet away” in the yard. (App.p.132, line 20). She testified she could see Respondent’s face for approximately fifteen seconds because he took several steps backward before turning around and running toward the getaway car. (App.p.132, line 24–p.133, line 6). Later, she was able to pick him out of a

photographic lineup. (App.pp.144–47; pp.291–92).

By contrast, Kelly Ball never claimed to have seen Johnny Saxon at the scene and candidly admitted she could not tell who else may have been inside the getaway car. (App.p.136, lines 1–3). At the PCR hearing, Ms. Zmroczek acknowledged that Ball testified during Johnny Saxon’s trial and expressly denied seeing Saxon at all on the night of the murder. (App.p.513, line 17–p.514, line 10). Ms. Zmroczek admitted that Saxon’s acquittal “absolutely” could have been due to the fact that the State’s only eye-witness to the crime expressly denied seeing Johnny Saxon at the scene. (App.p.514, lines 6–10).

Ball gave a description of the getaway vehicle to law enforcement. Officer Ashley who was driving along Highway 101, heard the description over his radio. (App.pp.213–14). He observed a vehicle matching the description, and he followed it to a residence on Jones Hill Road, where he and Deputy McMahan made contact with Respondent. (App.pp.214–19). Respondent admitted he had been driving the car, but he refused to say specifically where he had been. (App.pp.230–31). However, neither Ashley nor McMahan mentioned seeing Johnny Saxon in the car or at the house.

Finally, on the day after the murder, Antonio Morris found the victim’s discarded wallet lying on the side of the road at the intersection of Highway 101 and Pleasant View Drive. (App.pp.275–78). That intersection was more than eight miles from the crime scene, but less than one mile away from Respondent’s house; in addition, it was part of the same route that Ashley had observed Respondent taking the previous night. (App.p.216, lines 1–13; p.226; p.275; p.290). Nothing connected the location of the wallet with Johnny Saxon, however.

In fact, the only evidence implicating Johnny Saxon as a co-conspirator in the murder and armed robbery of the victim was the testimony of Toris Moore, who testified that Saxon had

accompanied Respondent and David Walker when the latter came to see her before the murder. (App.pp.109–10; p.112). Moore testified Walker told her they were planning to rob a drug dealer using Respondent’s gun, and the three men were riding in Respondent’s car. (App.pp.110–16). Although Moore said Saxon was with Walker and Respondent in the car, she did not testify to Saxon saying or doing anything during this interaction.

Clearly, the evidence against Respondent was far stronger than the evidence against Saxon. The sole eyewitness saw Respondent’s face for several seconds at the crime scene, picked him out of a lineup, and described his car to the police with enough specificity that Officer Ashley was able to follow a matching car to the house where Respondent was staying. The next day, the victim’s wallet, sans cash, was found near Respondent’s residence along the very same path that Ashley had followed Respondent’s vehicle the night before. Finally, the codefendant Walker told his niece that Respondent had provided the gun they were planning to use in the robbery. In light of all this evidence, Counsel faced a much different and more difficult task in defending Respondent than Ms. Zmroczek faced in defending Saxon. The specific actions taken by Ms. Zmroczek to defend her client, therefore, are totally irrelevant to the question of whether Counsel provided constitutionally adequate representation for Respondent.

The PCR court’s reliance on Ms. Zmroczek’s actions, as if her strategy provided a “checklist for judicial evaluation of attorney performance,” was not appropriate. *Strickland* 466 U.S. at 688. As the United States Supreme Court recognized in *Strickland*:

No particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. . . . There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way.

Id. at 689. Much less, therefore, should different attorneys be expected to defend *different* clients, with materially *different* cases, in the same way.

The PCR court’s order did not include any discussion of the major factual differences between Respondent’s case and Saxon’s case. The court’s approach was contrary to *Strickland*, which requires courts to “judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct *on the facts of the particular case*, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct.” *Id.* at 690 (emphasis added).

In addition, Saxon was tried *after* Respondent. Ms. Zmroczek even testified, “I had the benefit of both co-defendants had already gone to trial. So I had trial transcripts as well. I had all of that.” (App.p.491, lines 17–19). Ms. Zmroczek had the advantage of already knowing the result of Respondent’s trial at the time she was preparing her strategy for Saxon’s defense—an advantage which obviously was not available to Counsel. “A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the *distorting effects of hindsight*, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from *counsel's perspective at the time*.” *Id.* at 689 (emphasis added). The PCR court did not evaluate Counsel’s conduct based on Counsel’s perspective at the time of Respondent’s trial; rather, it erroneously relied on *Ms. Zmroczek’s* perspective at the time of *Saxon’s* trial. Ms. Zmroczek’s decisions were made “with the benefit of hindsight,” and should not be used as the rubric for evaluating Counsel’s conduct at the time he was preparing for Respondent’s trial. *Yarborough*, 540 U.S. at 6.

Because the PCR court failed to faithfully assess deficiency under the *Strickland* standard, it erred as a matter of law in finding that Counsel was ineffective. However, even if the PCR court had correctly evaluated the deficiency prong, it erred as a matter of law in finding that Respondent was prejudiced. Although the PCR court identified four specific items of evidence that Counsel failed to obtain, it did not apply the correct *Strickland* standard for assessing prejudice, and its

prejudice findings for each item were conclusory and totally unsupported by the evidence:

A. Additional Body-Worn Camera Footage

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