STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Apr 08 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

—————
Certiorari to Laurens County

Honorable B. Alex Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

—————
CHRISTOPHER JERMAINE WELLS,

RESPONDENT

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001566

—————
RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
—————

MOLLY M. KEEGAN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

Trial counsel then testified that he did not recall his cross-examination of Ball. App. 522, ll. 6-9. When asked on cross-examination if he would have used Ball's statement from the body-worn camera he explained that "there was no question in [his] mind that [respondent] was there." App. 523, ll. 14-18. He testified that it was "kind of a slippery slope theme that I'm going to impeach her on stuff that I know not to be true. You know, that's the hard thing to do." App. 523, ll. 17-22.

Evidentiary hearing exhibits

Applicant's Exhibit 3 is an excerpt of testimony from co-defendant Saxon's trial. (Applicants Exhibit 3). During her direct examination, she testified that she received psychiatric counseling and admitted herself to the Marshall Pickens Psychiatric Hospital in Greenville. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 55, ll. 18-23). Her stay at Marshall Pickens was due to the Halloween 2013 incident. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 56, ll. 1-2). On cross-examination, Zmroczek elicited that Ball was not clean, and she got drugs from the deceased. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 102, ll. 2-5). Ball described a 2013 breach of peace arrest which involved Teresa, who Ball believed was jealous of her because of her relationship with the deceased. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 102, l. 23 – 103, l. 21). She testified that Teresa did not like her. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 104, ll. 6-7).

Ball agreed that she had given more than one statement in this case. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 105, ll. 1-2). She agreed she gave a statement to Investigator Crain, which was recorded on his body-worn camera that she had since seen. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 106, ll. 2-18). She gave a written statement on November 1, 2013. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 108, ll. 1-16). She gave another written statement on November 5, 2013, at the Sheriff's Office. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 109, ll. 3-11). She agreed that she was in the hospital from December 6 to December 16, and she spoke with medical professionals about what occurred. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 109, ll. 12-25). Ball agreed that, including her sworn trial testimony, she had provided approximately nine statements. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 110, ll. 2-20). She agreed that when she went to the ER after this incident they did a drug screen which showed cocaine, amphetamines, marijuana, opiates, and benzodiazepines in her system. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 124, l. 8 – 125, l. 2). Ball agreed that she had been diagnosed with bipolar. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 125, ll. 3-5). Ball agreed that she told everyone in group therapy at Marshall Pickens that four men broke into her

best friend's house and murdered him. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 129, l. 23 – 130, l. 1). She then clarified that she said she saw two men and there had to be a third man in the car. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 130, ll. 8-11). She agreed that she had stolen from her mother a number of times to support her drug habit. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 130, ll. 18-20). Ball further testified that Investigator Cheek drove to Marshall Pickens on December 16th to speak with her. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 131, ll. 8-10). Ball agreed that 911 calls and body-worn camera recall what happened and what was said. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 137, ll. 12-23).

The PCR court's ruling

In its order, the PCR court explained that trial counsel testified that he did not recall Ball's cross-examination but had no question that respondent was present at the scene which made attempting to impeach Ball on that point risky. App. 541. The PCR court pointed to Zmroczek's testimony that Ball had been in and out of mental hospitals and obtained her mental health records from the ER and Marshall Pickens. App. 541. The PCR court noted that Zmroczek testified that her impression of Ball was that she was mentally ill, self-medicating, and had been diagnosed as bipolar. App. 541. Additionally, Ball had stated she was using drugs the day of the incident and had given multiple inconsistent statements. App. 541. The PCR court further noted that Zmroczek testified that her goal cross-examining Ball was to show that she was "a drug addict and unstable, because her credibility was important . . ." App. 542. The PCR court pointed to Zmroczek's testimony that Ball's statements did not conform to the evidence, that Ball was on the phone during the incident with not just 911 but also her mother, and the body-worn camera footage obtained contained a statement from Ball that contradicted her statements given later and what she said on the phone call. App. 542.

The PCR court continued that this allegation related to trial counsel's failure to investigate. App. 542. The PCR court determined that "[h]ad [trial counsel] obtained Ms. Ball's mental health records and had her statements given on the BWC, [trial counsel's] cross-examination of Ms. Ball would have been more thorough and possibly changed the outcome of [respondent's] trial." App. 542. The PCR court further stated that trial counsel was unable to articulate any strategic decisions on the way he cross-examined Ball. App. 542. Thus, the PCR court concluded that relief should be granted as to this allegation. App. 542.

Discussion

The PCR court correctly found that trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to cross-examine more thoroughly and impeach Kelly Ball, a critical state witness, with her inconsistent statements and evidence of her mental health records in order to attack her credibility. Because of trial counsel's deficient performance in his cross-examination of Ball, and the evidence presented during the evidentiary hearing concerning Ball's inconsistent statements and mental health records, there is a reasonable probability that, but for trial counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Therefore, this Court should affirm the PCR court's order granting respondent relief.

"Evidence of a witness's bias can be compelling impeachment evidence, and for that reason considerable latitude is allowed to defense counsel in criminal cases in the cross-examination of an adverse witness for the purpose of testing bias." *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 182, 810 S.E.2d 836, 840 (2018) (citing *State v. Brown*, 303 S.C. 169, 171, 399 S.E.2d 593, 594 (1991)) (internal quotation marks omitted). Particularly, "[b]ias, prejudice or any motive to misrepresent may be shown to impeach the witness either by examination of the witness or by evidence otherwise adduced." Rule 608(c), SCRE. "The purpose of impeachment is not to show

the witness is a bad person but rather to show background facts which impact the witness's credibility." *Greene v. State*, 440 S.C. 165, 176-77, 889 S.E.2d 636, 642 (Ct. App. 2023) (citing *State v. Robinson*, 426 S.C. 579, 597-98, 828 S.E.2d 203, 212) and quoting *State v. Black*, 400 S.C. 10, 21, 732 S.E.2d 880, 886 (2012)).

As to deficient performance, the PCR court properly noted that trial counsel testified that he did not recall his cross-examination of Ball but that he had no question respondent was present at the scene so trying to impeach Ball as to that point would have been risky. App. 541. Refusing to more thoroughly cross-examine Ball or impeach her because of his belief that respondent was present on the night of the incident is not a valid strategic decision. App. 523, ll. 14-22; *see e.g., Stone*, 419 S.C. at 387, 798 S.E.2d at 570 (explaining that counsel's belief the court would overrule his objection and counsel's concern that the jury might think was trying to hide something were not valid strategic decisions). Other than testifying that impeaching her would have been a "slippery slope," trial counsel fails to articulate a valid reason underlying his decision, especially considering that Ball's credibility was critical and he did cross-examine Ball on the color of the car she identified, which was linked to respondent, and her description of the individual she identified as resembling Ty, a dark-skinned Black man. App. 151, l. 11 – 152, l. 17; 157, l. 3 – 161, l. 7; *see also* App. 523, ll. 17-22. His belief that respondent was present during the crime did not make his decision not to investigate Ball in order to impeach her credibility and more thoroughly cross-examine her objectively reasonable where Ball had already placed respondent at the scene by testifying that she identified respondent from a lineup and believed she saw his face from eight to ten feet away. Therefore, the PCR court's conclusion that trial counsel failed to articulate any strategic decision as to his cross-examination of Ball is supported by the record. App. 541-42. Trial counsel's performance was deficient.

The PCR court also properly determined that respondent was prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance. At his evidentiary hearing, respondent presented testimony from Zmroczek concerning her cross-examination of Ball and entered an excerpt of co-defendant Saxon's trial to include Ball's testimony as an exhibit. (Applicants Exhibit 3). Zmroczek testified about several areas of cross-examination she was able to explore with Ball, including: Ball's arrest and conviction from an interaction with Teresa, records from the ER and a mental hospital Ball stayed at following the incident, numerous statements Ball had given, and Ball's history using drugs.⁸ App. 495, l. 12 – 499, l. 13. She also explained she was able to impeach Ball with statements given on the body-worn camera footage. App. 504, ll. 6-10. As discussed, trial counsel failed to conduct a reasonable investigation which would have led to obtaining the body-worn camera footage and the deceased's cell phone which contained threatening texts from Teresea. Trial counsel likewise failed to investigate any means to impeach Ball as he neither questioned her about her prior conviction nor delved into her inconsistent statements, which could have been discovered with "very minimal effort," and reading the discovery, as Zmroczek explained. App. 495, l. 21 – 496, l. 1; *see e.g., Hoots v. Allsbrook*, 785 F.2d 1214, 1221 (4th Cir. 1986) ("We agree that defense counsel ordinarily has a duty to investigate possible methods for impeaching prosecution witnesses. That obligation was breached by Weldon, who did not even

⁸ Notably, Zmroczek was able to cross-examine Ball on her several inconsistent statements, her mental health records, including a diagnosis for bipolar, and her propensity to self-medicate and engage in drug use, all of which was relevant to cast doubt on her ability to tell the truth. *See United States v. George*, 532 F.3d 933, 936-37, 382 U.S. App. D.C. 332, 335-36 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (explaining that mental illness is only relevant where it may reasonably cast doubt on the ability or willingness of a witness to tell the truth and that "[m]ental illness is most highly relevant when the witness exhibited a pronounced disposition to lie or hallucinate, or suffered from a severe illness . . . that dramatically impaired her ability to perceive and tell the truth." The United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia further explained, however, that "[m]ental illness is not a generic badge of incompetence or dishonesty," and thus "some indication is needed that a particular witness's medical history throws some doubt on the witness's competence or credibility.") (internal quotations omitted).

attempt to search out Roark's criminal record, which would have been easily discoverable. In some cases, such deficient performance might be so prejudicial to a criminal defendant that the *Strickland* standard for ineffective assistance of counsel would be satisfied.").

To that end, respondent presented evidence of how Ball could have been more thoroughly cross-examined on her inconsistent statements, history of drug use, and mental health diagnoses. (Applicants Exhibit 3). For example, Ball agreed that a drug screen taken at the hospital following the incident showed cocaine, amphetamines, marijuana, opiates, and benzodiazepines in her system, that she had stolen from her mother a number of times to support her drug habit, and that she was not clean. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 102, ll. 2-5; p. 124, l. 8 – 125, l. 2; p. 130, ll. 18-20). Ball also testified as to her several statements she had given over the duration of the case. (Applicants Exhibit 3, p. 105, ll. 1-2; p. 106, ll. 2-18; p. 108, ll. 1-16; p. 109, ll. 3-11; p. 109, ll. 12-25; p. 110, ll. 2-20). All of these points would have gone to the jury's consideration of Ball's credibility as a witness, and although trial counsel cross-examined Ball on a few aspects of her trial testimony and agreed that she had done drugs before, *see generally* App. 148-161; 166, ll. 1-3, trial counsel's cross-examination was relatively brief and failed to thoroughly attack Ball's credibility, *but see Legare v. State*, 333 S.C. 275, 282, 509 S.E.2d 472, 475 (1998) (reversing PCR court granting relief that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to impeach a State's witness by attacking her credibility because the witnesses' criminal record was not in the record and the record did not contain evidence of a relied upon letter from the witness explaining her motivations for testifying on behalf of the state). The PCR court thus correctly found that respondent was prejudiced because had trial counsel obtained Ball's records and body-worn camera footage, trial counsel's cross-examination would have been more thorough, and thus,

presented a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different. App. 542; *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88.

Moreover, in addition to the fact that Ball's credibility was critical to the state's case, the jury sent a note to the trial court requesting a copy of Ball's testimony. App. 378, l. 24 – 379, l. 2. Specifically, the jury asked to hear the portion of her testimony just after she placed the 911 call and went into the yard. App. 379, ll. 10-14. The jury's request to re-hear a portion of Ball's testimony suggests that the testimony was highly scrutinized by the jury. It is also worth noting that the body-worn camera footage depicts Ball on the phone and giving statements to law enforcement, none of which was available to respondent's jury because of trial counsel's ineffective assistance. (Applicants Exhibit 7). Considering this, the record supports the PCR court's conclusion that respondent was prejudiced by trial counsel's ineffective cross-examination of Ball as he failed to attack Ball's credibility on several critical points.

Therefore, but for trial counsel's deficient performance by failing to impeach and more thoroughly cross-examine Ball, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Cherry*, 300 S.C. at 117-118, 386 S.E.2d at 625; *Thompson*, 423 S.C. at 245, 814 S.E.2d at 492. The PCR court properly applied *Strickland* to determine that relief should be granted as to this allegation, and thus, this Court should deny the petition for certiorari and affirm the PCR court's order.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments, respondent respectfully requests that this Court deny certiorari and affirm the PCR court's ruling.



Molly M. Keegan
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT